
 

 

 
December 13, 2019 
 
Via Electronic Mail 
 
Assistant Director Edward Grace 
Deputy Assistant Director Luis Santiago 
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 
Office of Law Enforcement  
5275 Leesburg Pike, MS: LE 
Falls Church, VA 22041-3803 
edward_grace@fws.gov  
luis_santiago@fws.gov  
 

Re: Request for Investigation into Argali Trophy Taken by Don Trump Jr. in 
Mongolia  

 
Dear Assistant Director and Deputy Assistance Director, 
 
As you may know, Mr. Don Trump Jr. visited Mongolia in August of 2019 and killed a 
threatened argali sheep. I am writing on behalf of the Center for Biological Diversity to 
alert you to potential legal violations associated with this trophy hunt and to ask your 
office to ensure that any attempt to import the animal’s horns, skin, or other parts as a 
trophy into the United States does not violate the Lacey Act.  
 
Our primary concern is that, based on information reported by Pro Publica and WNYC 
Studios, Mr. Don Trump Jr.’s trip in Mongolia was not just to hunt but specifically to 
hunt argali.1 Despite this fact, Mr. Trump Jr. allegedly did not obtain a Mongolian 
permit to hunt argali before his trip or before actually killing an argali, as is customary 
in Mongolia.2 Instead, it has been reported that the hunt was undertaken and the argali 
killed without a permit.3 Only after Mr. Trump Jr. had departed Mongolia—on 
September 2, 2019—was a permit issued for the argali hunt.4 This scenario raises the 
question whether the hunt was legal or violated Mongolian law. If the latter is the case, 
importing the trophy would result in a violation of the Lacey Act. 16 U.S.C. § 
3372(a)(2)(A) (“It is unlawful for any person . . . to import . . . any [] wildlife . . . in 
violation of any foreign law”).  
 

                                                 
1 https://www.wnycstudios.org/podcasts/trumpinc/episodes/trump-inc-mongolia at minute 6:56, noting another 
expedition in Mongolia was told Don Trump Jr. was there and “had a trip hired out for hunting argali sheep.” 
2 https://www.wnycstudios.org/podcasts/trumpinc/episodes/trump-inc-mongolia at minute 12:58-14:18. 
3 Id. 
4 https://www.wnycstudios.org/podcasts/trumpinc/episodes/trump-inc-mongolia at 13:36-13:45 
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We further note that the Lacey Act also prohibits an “attempt to commit any act” 
including the import of wildlife obtained in violation of foreign law. 16 U.S.C. § 
3372(a)(4). For this reason, we ask you to inquire whether any permit application is 
pending to import this trophy and if so, assess whether the trophy was taken in 
contravention of Mongolian law.   
 
Argali are listed as a threatened species under our Endangered Species Act with a 4(d) 
rule, 50 C.F.R. § 17.40(j), and under Appendix II of the Convention on International 
Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora.5 They are majestic animals that 
are essential to the unique ecosystems in which they are found. Sadly, overhunting is a 
threat that has contributed to their decline. We urge you to ensure that the protections 
in place for argali—including from hunters and poachers—are enforced and special 
access is not provided for wealthy, white hunters from the West, even if their father is 
the U.S. president.  
 
Thank you for your consideration of this matter.  
 
Sincerely, 
 
Tanya Sanerib  
International Legal Director  
Center for Biological Diversity  
 
 

                                                 
5 We note that if the hunt violated Mongolian law, then Mongolia should not issue an export permit under CITES for 
the trophy because that trophy was not acquired legally. Thus, we suggest that you work with the U.S. CITES 
Management Authority in investigating this issue.  


